interesting manager important support bounds of the context of special points of the context of

Mid-Management Agency for Transformation in Post-conflict Societies



SRHE 2019 Newer Researcher Final Report

ABSTRACT

Drawing on a structure/agency framework and a hermeneutic phenomenological approach, the research explores the ways in which university middle-management, who are in key positions to engender transformation within the higher education sector in South Africa (SA) and Northern Ireland (NI), can be better empowered to enact their agency; and in what ways this is impacted by their identities and social location. Due to variations in the nature of their divided societies, past conflicts and geopolitics, approaches to legacy issues in these contexts differs in many respects. This offer rich terrain for comparison of the roles played by HE midmanagement, and cross-fertilisation of ideas and practices.

Dr Idahosa, Ese-osa Grace, Centre for Social Change, University of Johannesburg, idahosagrace@gmail.com

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	II
INTRODUCTION	1
THE HISTORICAL CONTEXT OF HE TRANSFORMATION IN SA AND NI	2
South Africa	2
NORTHERN IRELAND	3
METHODOLOGY	4
PRELIMINARY FINDINGS	6
CONSTRUCTIONS OF AGENCY FOR TRANSFORMATION: DISCOURSE, INSTITUTIONAL AND SOC	CIAL FACTORS6
INSTRUMENTAL APPROACH TO TRANSFORMATION	6
TRANSFORMATION UNDERSTOOD AS A PERSONAL AND POLITICAL PROJECT	6
CLASH OF IDEAS: CHALLENGES AND TENSIONS IMPACTING THE AGENCY TO LEAD TRANSFOR	MATION7
Policy vs Practice	8
THE POLITICS OF BLACK EXCELLENCE	8
ACADEMIC NEEDS VS ECONOMIC NEEDS	8
Internationalization vs Transformation	9
LEADERSHIP VS MANAGEMENT	9
THE POLITICS OF IDENTITY: SIGNIFIERS, UNCONSCIOUS BIAS, AND OUTSIDE/INSIDE	9
STRATEGIES DEPLOYED TO EFFECT CHANGE	10
CHOOSING BATTLES	11
Parenting	11
RECOMMENDATIONS: CREATING CONDUCIVE CONDITIONS FOR TRANSFORMATION	11
Resources	11
ENGINEERING THE NEXT GENERATION OF ACADEMICS AND LEADERS	11
EFFICIENCY, OPEN AND CLEAR COMMUNICATION	12
CONCLUSION	12
PROJECT OUTCOMES AND OUTPUT: SUMMARY OF NEXT STEPS	12

Acknowledgements

I want to thank the Society for Research into Higher Education (SRHE) for providing the funds that made this project possible.

I am grateful to Dr. Emily Henderson of the School of Education at the University of Warwick, who is also my SRHE appointed critical friend, for her support, advice – particularly given some of the challenges encountered during the data collection analysis phases and critical comments throughout the project.

This project would also not be possible without Dr. Dina Belluigi of the School of Social Science Education and Social Work, Queens University Belfast. She provided critical feedback and funds for transcribing the interviews.

I am grateful to my twin sister, Dr. Love Idahosa, for the time spent bouncing off ideas during the analysis and for taking time to read, edit and provide comments on the draft report and future articles.

I must also thank Professor Kate Alexander at the Center for Social Change, University of Johannesburg, for providing the necessary resources and support for me to complete the project.

Finally, I am grateful to my participants in South Africa and Northern Ireland for sharing their experiences and making time out of their busy schedules to participate in the study when universities across the world were in crisis.

Executive Summary

The project sought to explore how university middle-management, who are in key positions to engender social change within the higher education sector in Northern Ireland and South Africa, can be better empowered to enact their agency; and how their gender and social location impact this.

Universities face the challenge of meeting the imperative to contribute to societal development in terms of equality, inclusion, and diversity by producing ethical individuals capable of adapting to uncertain futures. In post-conflict contexts grappling with reconciliation, oppressive legacies, and inter-generational trauma, such challenges to 'transform' are of utmost importance to universities' role in shaping fragile democracies. Furthermore, mid-management within such institutions have key leadership roles in negotiating both national and institutional policy aspirations, building an inclusive institutional culture, and ensuring an increasingly more diverse academic and staff profile.

The study drew on 15 in-depth interviews conducted between September 2019 and February 2020, with mid-level management academic staff members in four Universities in South Africa and Northern Ireland. The interviews sought to understand mid-level management staff experiences of having the agency to contribute to transformation and their experience of the enabling and limiting conditions within their institutions. Preliminary findings indicated that an intersection of managers' perceptions of transformation, tensions, and clashes of ideas, reflecting historical legacies and contemporary issues and identity, worked to influence mid-level managers' agency for transformation.

Introduction

The United Nations (UN) 2030 Education framework for action positions higher education institutions as critical drivers for achieving the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 5 (Gender Equality) by aligning research, teaching, pedagogy, campus culture, and practice. Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) are, therefore, facing the challenge of 'transformation' from within. Mid-management within such institutions have key leadership roles in negotiating such top-down aspirational policies, meso-level institutional cultures, responsibilities, and fiscal constraints, and the concerns of an increasingly more diverse academic and staff profile. While middle managers may have access to structural power and the needed resources to effect change, both their access to such power and the reception of their enactment of that role, is affected by a myriad of contextual and social factors - including the individual's religion, race, gender, socioeconomic status, ethnicity, etc. An individual's influence and authority when executing their role, are thus impacted by their social location, with intersecting characteristics further weighted in post-conflict contexts (Idahosa, 2020).

This study draws from two contexts, Northern Ireland (NI) and South Africa (SA). Almost 25 years after 'The Troubles' (in Northern Ireland) and 'Apartheid' (in South Africa), with a hung parliament in NI and increasing student and civil unrest in SA, this study's novel comparative approach focuses on the agency of well-placed individuals to champion change, exploring how their efforts are received, and identifying how the efficacy of their actions can have a broader Mirroring this concern is the explicit research objective to examine similarities/differences, successes/failures of the structures, cultures, and practices that impact reproduction and transformation within those contexts and identify contextually relevant pathways to effect change within the two post-conflict contexts. This offers a rich terrain for comparison of the roles played by HE mid-management in enabling transformation and valuable insights into practices that contribute to the university's role in eradicating injustices and equality. As such, this comparative study will contribute an evidence-base that addresses a gap in the field of higher education by examining how social change is understood and the role and responsibility of higher education to their local communities within these two postconflict contexts. By considering the structural position and power of managers to enact their agency, the study will significantly contribute comparative, transnational findings regarding the challenges and possibilities for change within two post-conflict contexts (one in the Global South and another in the Global North), where the social location of such individuals intersects with the reception of their gender and other structural/social positions.

Drawing on a structure/agency framework and employing a hermeneutic phenomenology approach, the research explores how university middle-management, who are in key positions to engender transformation within the higher education sector in Northern Ireland (NI) and South Africa (SA), can be better empowered to enact their agency; and in what ways their gender and social location impact this. Thus, the study complements the contributions of previous projects undertaken by the researcher. The project's central objectives were:

- 1. Distinguishing the aspirational discourses, institutional and social factors that impact mid-managers agency to effect transformation within higher education in NI and SA.
- 2. Understanding the role of identity, social locations/positions, and gender within the reproduction/transformation process.
- 3. Developing recommendations on the measures that can be put in place to create conditions conducive to transformation.
- 4. Composing contextually relevant pathways to impact equality, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) in HE.

The study drew on 15 in-depth interviews conducted between September 2019 and February 2020 with mid-level management academic staff members in Universities in South Africa and Northern Ireland. Preliminary findings indicated that an intersection of managers' perception of transformation, tensions, and clashes of ideas that reflected historical legacies in each study contexts and contemporary issues and identity worked to influence mid-level managers' agency for transformation.

Below, I discuss the historical context transformation in both countries. Next, I discuss the methodology and framework employed in undertaking the research. This is followed by a discussion of the preliminary findings and conclusion.

The Historical Context of HE Transformation in SA and NI

South Africa

Apartheid was a system of legislation that upheld segregationist policies against non-white citizens of South Africa from 1948 to 1993 (Mphambukeli, 2019). The period was marked by racial stratification policies, for example, in 1950 the Population Registration Act racially classified all South Africans as White, Black (African) or Coloured (Clark and Worger, 2016). It enforced discrimination against Blacks, Coloured and Indians, based on skin colour. Although a majority of South Africans were Black, the White minority passed a series of Acts which resulted in blacks being marginalised (Christie, 2000). As a result, divisions were put in place to ensure the non-interaction between blacks and whites. For example, interracial marriages and interracial sexual relationships were prohibited and non-compliance with the race laws was dealt with harshly (Mphambukeli, 2019). Blacks became aliens and second-class citizens, treated as inferiors in society (Mhlauli, Salani and Mokotedi, 2015).

Like any other societal institution in apartheid South Africa, education was segregated along racial lines and marked with inequality (Mzangwa, 2019). Education was used as an oppressive tool by Whites to foster Black's subjugation and formal education for Black people was discouraged as (Mhlauli, Salani and Mokotedi 2015). Higher education institutions were positioned to serve the goals and strategies of the apartheid regime (Cloete et al., 2006). Higher education was thus skewed in a way that entrenched the power and privilege of the ruling Whites (Cloete, Maassen, Fehnel, Moja, Gibbon and Perold 2006). Black universities were under the control of the national government and they ensured that it remained poor and underfunded while that of White counterparts was free, well-funded and in line with the market demands (Mhlauli, Salani and Mokotedi 2015).

The apartheid regime was overthrown in 1994 and the educational sector, including institutions of higher learning, underwent transformations to dismantle the apartheid order and structures (Mzangwa, 2019). Nonetheless, racial segregation and discrimination left a significant imprint on South African institutions of higher learning that persist today (Mekoa, 2018). Consequently, discussions and debates about the transformation of higher education in South Africa are not new but came about with the new order of South Africa's democracy being instituted. Post-1994 studies examined how institutions of higher learning were transforming to address racial marginalisation and how state policy impacted transformation (Harvey and Knight, 1996; Waghid, 2002; van der Westhuizen, 2007). New policies included those put in place to redress past injustices and transform higher education to meet the national needs and respond to new realities (van der Westhuizen, 2007; Mekoa, 2018; Mzangwa, 2019). In this vein, a Policy Framework for Education and Training was established in 1994 as a vision for

higher education to counteract the apartheid legacies (Mekoa, 2018). In 1997, the Higher Education Act was put in place to transform institutions of higher learning by dismantling the apartheid order and ensuring equal access to higher education. A non-racial system emerged, with some universities being merged, reducing the number of universities from thirty-six to twenty-three, for example, the University of KwaZulu Natal was created from a merger between a historically white University of Natal and the Indian nearby University of Durban-Westville, the University of Johannesburg is also a merger of the Rand Afrikaans University with the technikon of Witwatersrand and two campuses of Vista University (Portnoi, 2015). In 1998 the Council on Higher Education was created as an advisory board on education quality assurance and promotion (Department of Education, 2001).

To transform racial and gender demographics in appointments and promotions, the Employment Equity Act of 1998 and affirmative action were put in place (Moletsane and Reddy, 2011). Nonetheless, after more than 25 years of democracy, institutions continue to face challenges like lack of academic freedom, racism and gender disparities despite legislative attempts to transform higher education (Mekoa, 2018; Idahosa, 2020). Knowledge producers remain mostly male and White, especially in historically white universities and women remain underrepresented especially as they move up the academic ladder (Mekoa, 2018; Idahosa, 2020). Though new legislation has increased access, it is neither at all levels nor all disciplines and has not improved institutional relations. Idahosa (2020) has problematised the top-down approach in transforming higher education institutions as it limits staff and students' agency. Staff and students' demographics diagrammatically presented below are evidence that some institutions of higher learning are living the legacy of apartheid as they are still marked by racial and gender imbalances.

Northern Ireland

Cultural diversity was needed in Northern Ireland society following 30 years of protracted conflict (Moodie, 2010), particularly within the education system, with universities globally positioned as drivers of transformation, they had a role to play to improve relationships between Catholics and Protestants. Like many societal services and economic sectors, education was also segregated along religious lines. Besides being drivers of change in society, universities also had to be transformed as they were predominantly a preserve of the uppermiddle class, a small, privileged elite until the 1960s (Moodie, 2010). University entry became determined by means rather than merit and the introduction of free second-level education in 1972 increased university enrolments, and higher education was transformed from elite to mass education (Walsh, 2018). To deconstruct the segregationist set up, education emphasized equity and moved from segregated to integrated schools (Walsh, 2018).

Several initiatives emerged during and after the Northern Ireland troubles to improve relations between the Catholic and Protestant communities. Policies were put in place to reformed the curriculum and increase contact between pupils from the two communities (Smith, 1999). At the university level, institutional policies encouraged equality of opportunities and good relations where no student or staff member felt intimidated because of religious beliefs, gender, political opinion, disability, race, age, and ethnic group (Walsh, 2018). The Belfast Agreement is one of the policy measures that were put in place to resolve the troubles. Following the national peace agreement, the Fair Employment and Treatment Order were put in place in 1998 to guide workforce composition and employment practices (Queen's University Belfast, 2018). In 2006 the Disability Discrimination Act was also passed to promote positive attitudes towards the disabled and encourage their participation. In accordance with the Act, the Disability

Action Plan 2012-2018 was put in place and has been effective in several ways, including the participation of disabled people (Queen's University Belfast, 2018). For example, the number of disabled applicants at Ulster University rose from 3.2% in 2012 to 4.7% in 2018 and the number of employees from 3.9% to 5% in 2018 (Ulster University, 2018). In terms of diversity promotion, the Diversity Inclusion Unit encouraged international students and staff to participate in events to ensure their integration (Ulster University, 2018).

The signing of the Belfast Agreement in 1998 was a new dawn in Northern Ireland as it 'ended' the conflicts by stipulating a fair and just society based on respect for human rights and embracing diversity (Moodie, 2010). The study by Moodie (2010) and other subsequent studies (Queen's University Belfast, 2018; Bagley, 2019) indicates that the end of conflicts in Northern Ireland, especially in terms of religious divides in education, has been more theoretical than practical. More than 20 years after the Belfast Agreement, most institutions of higher learning in Northern Ireland remain divided along social, cultural, and religious lines (Bagley, 2019). The study examined four higher education institutions' transformation and noted that segregated denominational schooling persists, with St Mary's University and Stranmillis University being Catholic and Protestant-dominated respectively. Though the colleges do not discriminate against students and staff's selection and recruitment, the divides remain.

Methodology

The study employs a hermeneutic phenomenological (HP) approach, which conceptualises human experiences as integrally linked to context, social and structural relations (see van Manen 1997). A conceptual framework of 'agency, structure, and transformation' was also employed to provide a lens through which I analysed the data (Giddens, 1979; Archer, 1995, 2014; Callinicos, 2004).

Initial recruitment invited all mid-level management staff at four HEIs, two in Northern Ireland and two in South Africa, to participate in the study. Participants were informed of the study aims, objectives, and processes. The study drew on two data collection phases to generate quantitative (online questionnaire) and qualitative data (in-depth interviews). For both phases, I employed a purposive sampling method to identify and invite key informants in each institution. Invited participants were informed of the study's aims, objectives, and processes via an information sheet. The initial stage involved sending out a survey to those in leadership positions as indicated on their university's web pages. Participants from the survey who indicated their interest in further participation were invited for in-depth interviews. The purposive selection processes ensured the representativity of the various identity groups. By selecting interviewees based on the following inclusion criteria, as deduced from their survey responses:

- Their constructions of transformation related to legacies of conflict, including discrimination.
- Constructions of agency as constrained and enabled
- Indications of the effect of transformation at systemic levels.

The interviews were conducted between September 2019 and February 2020. Initial invitation to recruit mid-level management staff was sent to four universities, two in Northern Ireland and two in South Africa. The interviews lasted between 1 hour and 2 hours. Participants were invited to narrate their experiences of having the agency to contribute to transformation within

their institutions, their experience of the enabling and limiting conditions, and recommendations for change from their experience. The narratives provided an evidence-base for identifying the process of reproduction and transformation within these post-conflict contexts. The interviews were then transcribed and analysed using NVivo computer-aided qualitative analysis software.

The analysis process involved coding, categorizing, and finding patterns in the data. Specifically, pattern coding, value coding, and emotion coding were applied to the data (Saldana 2009).

Preliminary Findings

The findings detailed below focuses on addressing the objectives set out in the proposed project. These initial findings will be developed further and published later on.

Constructions of Agency for transformation: Discourse, Institutional and Social Factors

Participants' narratives on their understanding of transformation and agency revealed two main perspectives: an instrumental perspective and a personal and political project. This understanding and approach to transformation influenced the manager's perception of having the agency to contribute to transformation and the mangers' perception of their ability and choice to lead rather than manage transformation. In South Africa, transformation is understood broadly as demographic inclusion changing institutional culture, and changing the curriculum. In Northern Ireland, transformation is understood in terms of equality, diversity, and inclusion. These approaches determined the national policy context and the trajectory of transformation within the two contexts.

Participants spoke about having the agency to implement their ideas of transformation but noted that implementing change to some ideas is more complex than others. Intersecting factors, i.e., discourses, institutional and social, work in tandem to influence agency and the degree of enablements and constraints experienced by the manager. As a result, for participants, deploying agency towards change meant 'bring different things to bear.' This often meant operating on a continuum or negotiating and balancing different structural, cultural, and individual factors.

Instrumental approach to transformation

Participants who held this view saw transformation from an institutional perspective — as implementing national and institutional policy on transformation. For these managers, transformation meant demographic (inclusion of previously disadvantaged and excluded groups) and institutional change. This approach focuses on providing access to marginalized groups. The problem with this approach is that the process becomes a box-ticking exercise that has an unintended consequence of preventing the individual from succeeding because they are included without considering the economic and social conditions that affect their ability to integrate and develop a sense of belonging. This approach also highlights one issue with the politics of representation where the focus is on numbers and not nuance, thus creating a false sense of inclusion and transformation.

The instrumental approach, which signals a lack of personal commitment to the change process, in turn, affects the individual's perception of agency. For this group of participants who understood transformation as implementing policies, their agency was tied to institutional functioning and being able to deploy structures to get things done. For these managers, deploying agency to contribute to transformation was not much of a choice¹.

Transformation understood as a personal and political project

This means personalizing transformation commitments and having a personal motivation for engaging in transformation. Participants noted that the experience of oppression often created the condition for the individual to contribute to change. Those who understood transformation as a personal endeavor tied agency to having a voice and speaking out against an oppressive

6

¹Further analysis would explore how this is tied to the individuals social and administrative position.

structure and culture. It meant being able to point out the problems inherent in the organization's practices and acknowledging, recognizing, and empathizing with the way other people experience the world. The participants spoke about deploying strategies like finding like-minded individuals and creative spaces from which to promote change.

Leading VS Managing Transformation

Participants distinguished between leading and managing transformation. The perceptions of leading or managing transformation, which is tied to the instrumental or personal notion of transformation, also impacted conceptions of agency.

Managing transformation was defined in instrumental terms as policy implementation. For these participants, leading transformation also meant managing upward (those in senior management) and downward (staff managers and students). In contrast, leading transformation was understood as a more qualitative approach and meant having people feel included – which is more challenging to enact. Linked to leading transformation was the importance of having a vision and a strategic goal that one wants to achieve, rather than being reactive, which indicates a managerial approach to transformation.

Participants highlighted three levels of leading transformation, and the importance of ensuring these are in sync:

- Managerial and operational: Putting out fires and dealing with polices
- Strategic: Having a goal and a vision. Tied to this is knowing how to enact one's goals.
- Personal: Listening to all the mundane problems of staff and students and, in so doing, enabling their agency to contribute to change.

To ensure sustainability, engaging and leading transformation needs to be personalized, and academics, and students alike, need to have the 'cross-cutting issues related to transformation embedded in their everyday functioning.' Precisely because of the difficulty in changing people's mindsets and biases, transformation needs to be embedded in the institution's everyday functioning.

In the next section, I discuss some of the factors that influence mid-level managers' agency to contribute to transformation. In particular, I discuss the challenges and tension that arise in the transformation process and its effect on the agent.

Clash of Ideas: Challenges and tensions impacting the agency to lead transformation

One recurring theme is the tensions in deploying agency for transformation – what one manager called a 'clash of ideas' – where such clashes are discursive and material. Participants' narratives reveal challenges associated with the personal and often conflicting nature of changing oppressive structures and cultures. Some of the obstacles to agency and tension inherent in the transformation process highlighted by participants include; not knowing what resources to draw on which intersects with positionality and identity; the disjuncture between policy and practice; the disconnect between the espoused policies, interpretation of the policies and institutional practices; tensions in the politics of black excellence; tensions in the internationalization and transformation imperative; and the tension between leadership and management. Rather than discuss tensions at the three levels (discourses, institutional and

social), I discuss them about each other. Below I briefly discuss five main tensions highlighted in the data.

Policy vs Practice

Managers emphasized the disjuncture between policy and practice. Participants noted that while their universities' policies on promoting transformation, equality, diversity, and inclusion were comprehensive, the broad focus on the transformation agenda allowed things to slip through the cracks easily. Linked to this is the tendency for universities to make student pass-rates a part of the policy and a Key Performance Indicator (KPI) value. Participants noted that using pass rates at a KPI value is often in tension with the critical goal of higher education – teaching critical thinking, building socially aware citizens, and producing citizens capable of adapting to uncertain futures (see Cloete and Moja, 2005; Badat, 2010).

Another policy/practice tension lies in the disconnect between the espoused policies and the interpretation of policies, which often work together to enable or limit agency. The data revealed that when there is an alignment between senior management, middle management, and staff in the interpretation of policies, the conditions for change become enabling, where a disconnect lends to constraining conditions for the mid-level manager who then has to balance differing interests, personalities, ideologies, and ideas.

Closely related to the tension in the practices, managers in the South African university noted the creation of separate entities (called transformation committees and task teams) as an impediment to both institutional change and individual agency. The problem with this approach is that these committees and task teams are overwhelmingly represented by members from marginalized groups and those that have a personal commitment to change, in essence, the converted. This approach thus shifts the responsibility and burden of transformation from the institution and every member of the institution to those who occupy marginalized positions. A further problem with these committees is that they are not as effective because, on the one hand, they are not given the power to effect the necessary change, and on the other hand, they become a dumping ground for issues that the university management and other staff members do not want to deal with.

The politics of black excellence

Linked to the problem associated with creating task teams is the tension in the politics of black excellence, which has a negative impact on those meant to occupy those roles. In the South African context, the notion of excellence often does not co-exist with diversity even though they feed into each other. Scholars (see, for instance, Booi, Vincent and Liccardo 2017) have argued that the politics of excellence maintain this discursive practice of a commitment to equity but not diversity. This discursive aspiration is in tension with practices and does have an impact on the agency of individuals in such contexts². There is also a distortion here – in terms of the administrative expectations – where marginalized groups are included (which is celebrated) but are then made to take on administrative roles only.

Academic needs vs Economic needs

This refers to the tension between students' academic needs and economic needs, particularly for first-generation students. Managers highlighted how the social and economic condition of learners – who are unable to do well because of lack of access to resources and the needs for daily living (food, clothes etc.) – is often ignored in the policymaking and institutional planning

² I discuss the intersections of discourses, practices and identity in the next section.

process, and later becomes a constraint in terms of promoting transformation. One manager in South Africa noted that he became aware of this tension after conducting a study to understand the reason for the failures of students in his faculty. This constraint is also directly tied to the material and historical conditions within the South African context³.

Internationalization vs Transformation

Also, the tension between internationalization and transformation brings a unique dimension to the challenges experienced, both by managers who have to balance these tensions and foreign academic staff members and students who noted that they feel uncomfortable within the space (this experience was highlighted more in SA than NI). The tension between internationalization and transformation is tied to the neo-liberal effect of globalization and marketisation of higher education which signaled a shift from a knowledge society to a knowledge economy (Williams 2016). Positioning knowledge in terms of the economy shifts the purpose of higher education to benefit private interests, economic rationality, and standardization (Sit 2010; Singh 2014). This provides one explanation for the impetus to internationalize, but in South Africa particularly, the commitment to attain transformation by including previously marginalized groups. Linked to this is the preference for degrees from outside south Africa in selecting who is included.

Leadership vs Management

The data revealed the tension between academic and managerial roles. Participants noted that while academics are trained to be experts in their fields and receive recognition (namely being appointed into leadership roles) because of their expertise, the expectation of taking on managerial positions, which they have not been trained for, and succeed, often acts as a constraint. This 'one size fits all' approach to transformation, as taken by universities, becomes a constraining condition for the manager/leader.

Furthermore, these tensions often intersect at the discursive, institutional and social levels to influence the manager's agency to promote change. Managers noted that balancing these tensions while at the same time pushing and struggling for transformation creates limiting conditions for them.

In the next section, I discuss how these tensions and clashes of ideas intersect with identity to de/legitimize and de/value agents.

The politics of identity: signifiers, unconscious bias, and outside/inside

As a result of the challenges of transformation, the tensions inherent in transformation discourses, and a disjuncture in social and institutional policies and practices, managers narrated ways in which patriarchal, racist, and sexist structures and structures – which are inextricably linked to historical legacies and conflicts in the two context – work to enable and limit their agency. Managers from marginalized groups narrated feeling and being silenced, stifled, exhausted, invisible, systematically misrecognized, and fighting to have a voice. A plethora of feminist and Black scholars and literature have highlighted this as a central and recurring issue in higher education institutions (Idahosa and Vincent, 2015; Vincent, Idahosa and Msomi, 2017; Skelton, 2005; Luke 1994).

³ While participants in Northern Ireland did not highlight this issue. It may as well be the case for Northern Ireland, but one cannot make this claim outside an examining of student experiences in Northern Ireland.

The data showed that identity intersects at different levels to either enable or constrain the agent. In terms of constraints and resistance, the data revealed the tricky and challenging nature of identity as it does not map neatly unto one issue, often operating on a continuum such that assumptions, presuppositions, and biases about identity traits intersect when dealing with issues relating to resistance, discrimination, and agency. The individual's identity and social positions thus work to determine the level of access the agent has and the range of power and resources available to the agent (Idahosa, 2020).

In both contexts, overt and subtle distinctions like names, clothes, signs, symbols, accent, schooling, location, hair type, and skin colour were indicated as signifiers used to distinguish between those included, legitimized, and enabled/constrained. These signifiers have assumptions and presuppositions underlying them, which operate at the subconscious level and play out in individuals' actions as unconscious biases. While these identity markers may seem much more subtle in NI than SA (for the outsider), they are embedded with assumptions and biases that may enable or limit change agent.

Managers also spoke about the tacit forms of oppression that impact agency and raise issues of belonging. For instance, in South Africa, the nationally directed imperative for transformation, post-1994, meant that overt forms of racism, xenophobia, and sexism were no longer allowed. However, while there are formal laws and policies against such forms of discrimination, participants noted the subtle nature of these forms of oppression still existed. An example is how comments like 'the rise of international students at the postgraduate level' – as a discursive strategy is employed in expressing xenophobic sentiments. Participants also noted how the distinction between 'international other' and 'international Africa' fuel these forms of discrimination.

These discourses impact having a sense of belonging and having the agency contribute to transformation as they determine who has access to resources, who is legitimised, and who is considered in the policymaking processes. The politics of identity positions individuals as powerful/less depending on the configurations of power within that context and influences their ability to deploy their agency to effect change. Hence, the need to question these blind spots (for instance, the assumptions built into the recruitment process) is necessary.

In the next section, I discuss some of the strategies deployed by participants to deal with the clashes, tensions, identity, and belonging issues that arise from engaging change.

Strategies deployed to effect change

Leaders' strategies to promote change include, but are not limited to, taking symbolic steps, choosing battles, and employing parenting strategies.

Symbolic steps

Managers in both contexts highlighted the powerful effects of taking small symbolic steps as employing this subtle strategy goes a long way in promoting transformation and ensuring that their transformation vision and strategy are successful. Employing this strategy also enables the manager to balance the different interests and preferences as intermediaries between top-level management, academic staff, and students. Their administrative position (mid-level management) puts them in a unique space to promote necessary changes at a subtle level as the subtle nature of biases' requires using nuanced approaches. An example is organising bystander intervention training on bullying and harassment in the workplace to make people aware of

unconscious bias and provide them with strategies and steps that can be taken to address these biases.

Building relationships is another strategy that provides an enabling environment for the manager to promote transformation. Managers note that people are more receptive when there is a shared understanding and vision. Also, both South Africa and Northern Ireland managers note this strategy as essential to dealing with the inherent problems with assumptions and bias linked to their identities.

Choosing Battles

Participants highlighted the importance of choosing one's battles, knowing when to fight, and knowing when to pick up the brick.

Parenting

One participant indicated that she used some of her parenting techniques when dealing with complex and sensitive issues. While this may be viewed as paternalistic, the participant, aware of the attending problems, noted that she employed this strategy when dealing with resistance to change, which she realised stems from fear of being excluded or losing one's job.

This strategy and the others previously discussed, deployed by participants, can be said to emphasize the domino effect of employing subtle and small strategies.

The following section discusses some recommendations for promoting transformation and providing enabling conditions for managers to lead transformation.

Recommendations: Creating conducive conditions for transformation

Below, I highlight some of the recommendations for creating conducive conditions for both managers and those involved in the transformation project, as suggested by the study participants.

Resources

Agency theory highlights the concept of resources as central to deploying agency and promoting change (see, for instance, Giddens, 1979; Bhaskar, 1998; Callinicos, 2004; Archer, 2014). Managers in both contexts noted the provision of necessary resources as central to deploying their agency to promote change. These resources include, but are not limited to, staffing and financial resources needed to promote change and 'bring the university into a new place' (participant UDDI).

Engineering the next generation of academics and leaders

Linked to the provision of resources is the express need to build the next generation of leaders and a commitment to sustained involvement in transformation. Participants in both contexts highlighted the intergenerational tensions (linked to historical legacies) that arise within the context of transformation and pursuing equality, diversity, and inclusion. Consequently, building the next generation – by providing mentorship and equipping them to take on the responsibilities of promoting transformation – is imperative to provide the conditions for balancing intergenerational differences.

Also, in ameliorating the tension between academic work and managerial/leadership roles, participants noted the need to provide leadership and management training for those who have been chosen to lead because of their research profile but do not necessarily have the

management skills to do so effectively. This is expressly linked to ensuring sustainability, both of the transformation goals (dealing with the legacy of the past) and of Higher Education as a whole.

Efficiency, open and clear communication

Participants also noted the importance of having an efficient structure tied to open and clear communication and efficiency, and open communication provides the enabling conditions for leaders, managers, staff, and students to deploy their agency to promote change in their various spheres. In the South African context, ensuring efficiency was linked to resolving the tension in black excellence and demographic approach to transformation, which positions marginalised groups, often Black and female staff, in junior positions.

Conclusion

This report summarizes the findings of the SRHE funded research on the experiences of midlevel management staff in higher education institutions in South Africa and Northern Ireland. Based on interviews with 15 academics at three universities in the context mentioned above, the report reveals how mid-managers understanding and assumptions about transformation influenced: 1.) their perception of having the agency to contribute to transformation and 2.) adopting a managerial or leadership approach to promoting transformation issues. T

he perception and practice that were adopted, in turn, influences the range of power and resources available to the agent to deploy in promoting transformation and determines whether the conditions are enabling or limiting. Also tied to the contextual conditions being enabling and limiting is the agent's identity and social position. Individuals are often positioned differently depending on the configurations of power within a specific context, which renders actors powerful/less, de/legitimizes them, bringing to the fore the politics of un/belonging and the challenges associated with promoting change. With participants often having to deploy various strategies to achieve their goals.

Project Outcomes and Output: Summary of Next steps

- The findings of this study will be presented at the next SRHE Newer Researcher Conference.
- The findings of this study will also be presented in a seminar organised by the Centre for Social Change, University of Johannesburg.
- One reflection article will be submitted to *The Conversation*.
- Within 12 months of the final report, two journal articles will be submitted for publication in leading journals.

References

Archer, M. S. (1995) Realist Social Theory: The Morphogenetic Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Archer, M. S. (2014) 'Structure, agency and the internal conversation', *Structure, Agency and the Internal Conversation*, (June), pp. 1–372. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139087315.

Badat, S. (2010) The challenges of transformation in higher education and training institutions in South Africa.

Bagley, C. (2019). 'Troubles, Transformation and Tension: Education Policy, Religious Segregation and Initial Teacher Education in Northern Ireland'. Profesorado, 23(4), pp. 8-25. doi.org/https://recyt.fecyt.es/index.php/profesorado/article/view/77083/47477

Bhaskar, R. (1998) *The Possibility of Naturalism, A Philosophical Critique of the Contemporary Human Sciences*. Third, *Philosophical Books*. Third. New York: Routledge. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0149.1981.tb02719.x.

Booi, M., Vincent, L. and Liccardo, S. (2017) 'Counting on demographic equity to transform institutional cultures at historically white South African universities?', *Higher Education Research and Development*. Taylor & Francis, 36(3), pp. 498–510. doi: 10.1080/07294360.2017.1289155.

Callinicos, A. (2004) Making history: Agency, structure and change in social theory, Making history: Agency, structure and change in social theory. Boston: Brill.

Christie, K. (2000). *The South African Truth Commission*. London: Macmillan Press Ltd. doi: 10 1057/9780333983140

Clark, NL and Worger, WH. (2016). The Rise and Fall of Apartheid. Abingdon: Routledge

Cloete, N. and Moja, T. (2005) 'Transformation Tensions in Higher Education: and Equity, Efficiency, Development', *Social Research*, 72(3), pp. 693–722. doi: Article.

Cloete, N, Maassen, P, Fehnel, R, Moja, T, Gibbon, T and Perold, H. (2006). *Transformation in Higher Education: Global Pressures and Local Realities*. Netherlands: Springer.

Department of education. (2001). Education in South Africa: Achievements since 1994. Pretoria: Department of Education

Giddens, A. (1979) Central Problems in Social Theory: Action, Structure and Contradiction in Social Analysis, Central Problems in Social Theory: Action, Structure, and Contradiction in Social Analysis. California: University of California Press.

Harvey, L and Knight, PT. (1996). *Transforming Higher Education*. Bristol: Open University Press.

Idahosa, Grace Eseosa (2020) Agency and social transformation in South African Higher Education: Pushing the bounds of possibility, Agency and Social Transformation in South African Higher Education: Pushing the Bounds of Possibility. London: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9780429020711.

Idahosa, Grace Ese-osa (2020) 'Dirty Body Politics: Habitus, Gendered Embodiment, and the Resistance to Women's Agency in Transforming South African Higher Education', *Gender Work and Organization*, (October 2018), pp. 1–16. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12425.

Idahosa, G. and Vincent, L. (2015) 'Agenda Empowering women for gender equity'. doi: 10.1080/10130950.2014.874766.

Mekoa, I. (2018). 'Challenges Facing Higher Education in South Africa: A Change from Apartheid Education to Democratic Education'. *African Renaissance*, 15 (2), pp. 227-246. doi.org/10.31920/2516-5305/2018/v15n2a11

Mhlauli, MB, Salani, E and Mokotedi, R. (2015). 'Understanding Apartheid in South Africa Through the Racial Contract'. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 5 (4), pp. 203-219. doi: 10.18488/journal.1/2015.5.4/1.4.203.219

Moletsane, R and Reddy, V. (2011). Women's Participation in Industrial Science, Engineering and Technology. Human Sciences Research Council.

Moodie, A. (2010). 'Northern Ireland: Coping with a Post-Conflict Society'. *University World News*. 2 May Accessed 16 March 2021. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20100429205019263

Mphambukeli, TN. (2019). *Apartheid*. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd. doi.org/10.1002/9781118568446.eurs0437

Mzangwa, ST. (2019). 'Transformation as Part of Evolving Organisational Culture in the South African Higher Education Institutions'. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 5 (1), pp. 1-13. doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2019.1638635

Portnoi, LM. (2015). 'Pushing a Stone up a Hill: A Case Study of the Working Environment of South African Academics'. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 10 (2), pp. 257-274. doi.org/10.1177/1745499915571721

Queen's University Belfast. (2018). *Equality Scheme (2018-2023)*. Queen's University Belfast. https://www.qub.ac.uk/directorates/HumanResources/hr-filestore/Filetoupload,865177,en.pdf Royal Irish Academy. (2016). *Royal Irish Academy Advice Paper on the Sustainability of the Northern Ireland Higher Education Sector*. Dublin: Royal Irish Academy. https://www.ria.ie/sites/default/files/ria advice no10 2 21.pdf

Smith, A. (1999). Education and the Peace Process in Northern Ireland. Ulster University: Conflict Archive on the Internet. https://cain.ulster.ac.uk/issues/education/docs/smith99.htm Ulster University. (2018). University Breakdown of Staff by Employment. Ulster University. Ulster University. (2020). Education for Sustainable Development (ESD). Ulster University. https://www.ulster.ac.uk/cherp/programmes-and-projects/education-for-sustainable-development-esd

United Kingdom National Commission for UNESCO. (2013). *Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) in the UK- Current Status, Best Practice and Opportunities for the Future*. United Kingdom: United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization. https://www.eauc.org.uk/file_uploads/uknc_esd_policy_brief.pdf

Van der Westhuizen, GJ. (2007). 'Evaluations of Higher Education Transformation in South Africa'. South African Journal of Higher Education, 23 (1), pp. 552-569. doi: 10.4314/sajhe.v21i3.25723

Vincent, L., Idahosa, G. and Msomi, Z. (2017) 'Disclaiming/denigrating/dodging: white South African academics' everyday racetalk', *African Identities*. doi: 10.1080/14725843.2017.1292119.

Waghid, Y. (2002). 'Knowledge Production and Higher Education Transformation in South Africa: Towards Reflexivity in University Teaching, Research and Community Service'. *Higher Education*, 43, pp. 457-488. doi.org/10.1023/A:1015211718131

Wals, AEJ. (2014). 'Sustainability in Higher Education in the Context of the UN DESD: A Review of Learning and Institutionalisation Processes'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 62, pp. 8-15. doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.06.007

Walsh, J. (2018). *Higher Education in Ireland, 1922-2016: Politics, Policy and Power- A History of Higher Education in the Irish State.* United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan. doi: 10.1057/978-1-137-44673-2

Williams, J. (2014). A critical exploration of changing definitions of public good in relation to higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, pp.1-12.